IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2010-CA-01597

REBUILD AMERICA, INC.

v.

COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS, INC. and THE BANK OF NEW YORK

APPELLANT

APPELLEES

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF HANCOCK COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

KIMBERLY P. TURNER (MP KIMBERLY P. TURNER, PLLC Post Office Box 4681 Jackson, Mississippi 39296 Telephone: 662.590.3725 Telecopier: 662.796.0215

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2010-CA-01597

REBUILD AMERICA, INC.

v.

COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS, INC. and THE BANK OF NEW YORK

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

I. GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT PRECLUDED THE LOWER COURT'S GRANTING OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF COUNTRYWIDE AND THE BANK OF NEW YORK.

÷,

- II. NEITHER COUNTRYWIDE NOR THE BANK OF NEW YORK ARE ENTITLED TO RAISE AND MAINTAIN THE ARGUMENTS RIGHTFULLY HELD BY CINDY S. FAVRE.
- III. THE ABSENCE OF A SECOND AFFIDAVIT WAS NOT DISPOSITIVE OF THE ACTION.
- IV. REBUILD AMERICA IS ENTITLED TO A DETERMINATION OF A REDEMPTION AMOUNT, COMPRISED OF ALL OUTSTANDING TAXES PAID BY REBUILD AMERICA, IN ADDITION TO STATUTORY PENALTY AND INTEREST THEREON.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This Appeal is taken from Summary Judgment entered by the Chancery Court of Hancock County, Mississippi on August 26, 2010, pursuant to which the Honorable Carter Bise voided, set aside and held for naught Chancery Clerk's Conveyance to Wolf Run, LLC, dated April 30, 2007; Chancery Clerk's Conveyance to Wachovia N.A., as custodian for Sass Muni V, LLC, dated January 24, 2008; and Quitclaim Deed and Assignment from Wachovia N.A., as custodian for Sass Muni V, LLC (hereinafter "Sass Muni V") to Appellant herein, Rebuild America, Inc., dated February 1, 2008. (R Vol. 8 at 01010).

On April 17, 2008, Rebuild America filed a Complaint to Quiet and Confirm Tax Title, pursuant to which Rebuild America sought confirmation of its title acquired by Quitclaim Deed and Assignment from Sass Muni V, in and to that real property described as "part of Lot 41, 1st Ward" situated in Hancock County, Mississippi, bearing parcel no. 144M-0-19-195.000 (hereinafter "the Property"). (R. Vol. 1 at 00001 -00023).

Defendants Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. and The Bank of New York filed an

Answer on June 20, 2008 (R. Vol. 1 at 00024 - 00027); while Defendants Cindy S. Favre and Scott M. Favre filed their Answer on June 27, 2008. (R. Vol. 1 00028 -00032). Such that none of the remaining named defendants filed an answer or responsive pleading to the Complaint to Quiet and Confirm Tax Title, Rebuild America filed its Motion for Default Judgment¹, with supporting exhibits attached thereto, on July 2, 2008. (R. Vol. 1 at 00033 -00093), with Judgment by Default entered by the Court on November 12, 2008 as against Wolf Run, LLC, Capital One Bank, f/k/a Hibernia National Bank, Lyndon Property Insurance Company, CTC Real Estate Services and the Unknown Heirs of Mrs. O. D. Knox. (R. Vol 3 at 00335 -00336).

On August 29, 2008, Rebuild America filed its Motion for Summary Judgment, with supporting memorandum and documentation attached as exhibits thereto. (R. Vol. 1 at 00107 - 00150, Vol. 2 at 00151 - 00233), to which Defendants, Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. and The Bank of New York filed a Response, likewise with supporting memorandum and documentation attached as exhibits thereto. (R. Vol. 2 at 00236 - 00300, Vol. 3 at 00301 - 00332). Subsequent to a hearing held upon the Motion for Summary Judgment of Rebuild America on January 22, 2009, the Court denied the same by Order entered February 19, 2009. (R. Vol. 3 at 00337 - 00340).

By virtue of the settlement of a simultaneous proceeding pending before the United

¹ On August 21, 2008, the State of Mississippi and Cono Caranna, as District Attorney, filed their Answer to the Complaint, asserting no claim nor interest in and to the Property, and providing consent to a hearing upon Plaintiff's prayer for relief at any time, without further notice to said defendants. (R. Vol. 1 at 00105 - 00106).

Though filing no Answer or responsive pleading to the Complaint, Hancock County entered into an Agreed Order with Plaintiff, Rebuild America, in which Hancock County asserted no interest or claim in the Property and consented to a hearing upon the requested relief, at any time, without further notice to said defendant, as entered by the Court on November 6, 2008. (R. Vol. 3 at 00333 - 00334).

States District Court for the Southern District of Mississippi, initiated by Scott Favre and Cindy Favre against Countrywide Home Loans, Inc., Scott M. Favre and Cindy S. Favre conveyed all of their title and interest in the Property to Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. by Quitclaim Deed, filed in the land records of the Hancock County Chancery Clerk on Jun 4, 2009 in Deed Book 2009 at Page 6900. (R. Vol. 3 at 000347). Thus, by Motion to Dismiss Certain Defendants and Agreed Order of Dismissal, Scott M. Favre and Cindy S. Favre were dismissed from the lower court action. (R. Vol. 3 at 00346 - 00349, 00376 - 00378).

Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. and The Bank of New York filed an Amended Answer with Affirmative Defenses, Counterclaim and Cross-Claim to Remove Clouds and Confirm Title², with permission as granted by Agreed Order. (R. Vol. 3 at 00379 - 00450, Vol. 4 at 00451 - 00474). On July 6, 2010, Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. and The Bank of New York filed their Motion for Summary Judgment, with supporting memorandum and documentation attached as exhibits thereto (R. Vol. 4 at 00475 - 00600, Vol. 5 at 00601 -00750, Vol. 6 at 00751 - 00900, Vol. 7 at 00901 - 00959), to which Rebuild America filed its Response in Opposition to said Motion, with supporting memorandum and documentation attached as exhibits thereto. (R. Vol. 7 at 00963 - 00987). Subsequent to a hearing held

² The State of Mississippi and Cono Caranna as District Attorney filed their Answer to the Counterclaim and Cross-Claims of Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. and The Bank of New York on July 21, 2010, against asserting no interest or claim in the Property and consenting to a hearing upon the relief requested at any time, without further notice to said counter defendants (R. Vol. 7 at 00960 - 00961).

Though filing no Answer or other responsive pleading to the Counterclaim and Cross-Claims of Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. and The Bank of New York, Hancock County entered into an Agreed Order with said Counter Plaintiffs, asserting no interest or claim in the Property and consenting to a hearing upon the relief requested at any time, without further notice to said counter defendant, entered by the Court on September 8, 2010. (R. Vol. 7 at 01011 - 01012).

upon the Motion for Summary Judgment of Rebuild America on July 29, 2010³, the Court granted the relief requested by Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. and The Bank of New York by entry of Summary Judgment on August 26, 2010. (R. Vol. 7 at 01006 - 01010).

Rebuild America timely filed its Notice of Appeal from that Summary Judgment on September 23, 2010 (R. Vol. 7 at 01022 - 01023).

³ At the time of filing the Motion for Summary Judgment and hearing held thereon, the trial of this case was scheduled to begin on August 20, 2010 (R. Vol. 8 at p. 33).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case arose from two (2) consecutive sales of real property located at 123 Harrison Court in Bay St. Louis, Mississippi for delinquent Hancock County ad valorem taxes for the years 2003 and 2004, each resulting in a conveyance by the Chancery Clerk subsequent to expiration of the applicable redemption periods.

During the years 2003 and 2004, the Property was owned by Cindy S. Favre by virtue of Warranty Deed from her husband, Scott M. Favre, dated February 27, 2002 and filed in the land records of the Chancery Clerk of Hancock County, Mississippi in Book BB241 at Page 114. (R. Vol. 4 at 00502 - 00503). The Property was also subject to two (2) liens of record, specifically that Deed of Trust executed by Cindy S. Favre in favor of Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. (hereinafter "Countrywide"), dated April 18, 2003 and filed in the land records of the aforesaid office in Book 756 at Page 668, as assigned to Bank of New York by Corporation Assignment of Deed of Trust dated July 23, 2003 and filed in the land records of the aforesaid office in Book 852 at Page 626; and that second Deed of Trust executed by Cindy S. Favre in favor of Countrywide, dated September 23, 2003 and filed in the land records of the aforesaid office in Book 793 at Page 39. (R. Vol. 4 at 00504 - 00523).

ŗ

On August 30, 2004, the Property was sold to Wolf Run, LLC, a Mississippi limited liability company, for outstanding and delinquent taxes owed for the year 2003. (R. Vol. 7 at 00933). Prior to expiration of the applicable redemption period, Lienor's Notice of Forfeiture was issued by the Chancery Clerk, mailed to Countrywide via certified mail, and received on April 10, 2006 as evidenced by return receipt. (R. Vol. 7 at 00937, 00942). Similarly, Lienor's Notice of Forfeiture was issued by the Chancery Clerk, mailed to The Bank of New York via certified mail, and received on April 10, 2006 as evidenced by return

-5-

receipt. (R. Vol. 7 at 00936, 00940).

On March 15, 2006, Owner's Notice of Forfeiture was issued by the Chancery Clerk and mailed, via certified mail, return receipt requested, to Cindy S. Favre at Post Office Box 3720, Bay St. Louis, Mississippi 39520, said address identified as both Grantor's Address and Grantee's Address on the Warranty Deed by which title was conveyed from Scott M. Favre to Cindy S. Favre. (R. Vol. 4 at 00502 - 00503, Vol. 7 at 00932, 00944 - 00945). By return of this Notice to the Chancery Clerk as "undeliverable as addressed", diligent search and inquiry ensued to locate an alternate post office and/or street address for Cindy S. Favre, resulting in a second Notice of Forfeiture mailed, via certified mail, return receipt requested to 419 Main Street, Bay St. Louis, Mississippi 39520. (R. Vol. 7 at 00946). This second attempt was likewise returned to the Chancery Clerk, marked as "NMR". Unable to ascertain an alternate post office or street address for Cindy S. Favre, Deputy Chancery Clerk Gloria Jordan executed her Affidavit attesting to her diligent efforts made to locate Ms. Favre, through consultation of phone directories, land records, tax rolls and other means⁴. (R. Vol. 7 at 00934). With no redemption made of the Property, Chancery Clerk's

⁴ As the Rule 30(b)(6) designee of Defendant Hancock County, Mississippi Chancery Clerk Timothy A. Kellar testified, with regard to the degree of diligence exercised in seeking alternate post office and street addresses for property owners, that

we actually will go well beyond what the law requires us to do. If we send the certified mail to the property owner and it comes back undelivered, our next step is to go to the – we'll go to the phone books, we'll go to Google search, we'll go to those means to try to find the latest, greatest address on these folks. If we can find anything that matches that person, whether it's the middle initial with that name, whatever it may be, we'll send a certified mailing to them. A lot of times it comes back not the right person, but we've tried that. We actually will then go to the former owners of the property, whoever sold it to them, making them aware because so many times there's some kind of owner finance that's out there that may not be recorded with us. So we'll go to former owners in these cases notifying them that the property is getting ready to be lost for taxes. We go to the mortgage companies. So we go as far as we can go with it before we finally give up. So we're at least three or four steps into certified mailing

Conveyance was delivered to Wolf Run, LLC on April 30, 2007, and filed in the land records of the aforesaid office on May 1, 2007 in Book 2007 at Page 9252. (R. Vol. 7 at 00933).

On October 31, 2005, the Property was sold to Wachovia as custodian for Sass Muni V, for outstanding and delinquent taxes owed for the year 2004. (R. Vol. 7 at 00950). Prior to expiration of the applicable redemption period, Owner's Notice of Forfeiture was mailed, via certified mail, return receipt requested, to Wolf Run, LLC, the previous owner of record of the Property by virtue of the previous year's Chancery Clerk's Conveyance, at Post Office Box 166, Pass Christian, Mississippi. (R. Vol. 7 at 00957). By return of this Notice to the Chancery Clerk as "unclaimed", diligent search and inquiry was undertaken to locate an alternate post office and/or street address for Wolf Run, LLC, which resulted in a second Notice of Forfeiture being mailed, via certified mail, and received on July 28, 2007 as evidenced by return receipt. (R. Vol. 7 at 00953, 00957). Wolf Run, LLC was personally served with Notice of Forfeiture by Hancock County Deputy Sheriff on September 26, 2007. (R. Vol. 4 at 00543, Vol. 5 at 00644).

Though unnecessary by virtue of the previous year's Chancery Clerk's Conveyance to Wolf Run, LLC, a Lienor's Notice of Forfeiture was once again issued by the Chancery Clerk, mailed to Countrywide via certified mail, and received on June 4, 2007 as evidenced by return receipt. (R. Vol. 5 at 00647, Vol. 7 at 00954). Similarly, Lienor's Notice of Forfeiture was issued by the Chancery Clerk, mailed to The Bank of New York via certified mail, and received on June 4, 2007 as evidenced by return receipt. (R. Vol. 5 at 00646, Vol. 7 at 00953).

before we actually give up that they're not going to redeem it or we don't have any other source to go after to get the certified mailing to them. (R. Vol. 4 at 00541).

On April 16, 2007, a second Owner's Notice of Forfeiture was issued by the Chancery Clerk and mailed, via certified mail, return receipt requested, to Cindy S. Favre at Post Office Box 3720, Bay St. Louis, Mississippi 39520. (R. Vol. 7 at 00952, 00959). By return of this Notice to the Chancery Clerk as "not undeliverable as addressed", diligent search and inquiry ensued to locate an alternate post office and/or street address for Cindy S. Favre, resulting in a second Notice of Forfeiture mailed, via certified mail, return receipt requested to 123 Harrison Court, Bay St. Louis, Mississippi 39520. (R. Vol. 7 at 00958). This second attempt also was returned to the Chancery Clerk as "not deliverable as addressed". (R. Vol. 7 at 00958). Unable to ascertain an alternate post office or street address for Cindy S. Favre, Deputy Chancery Clerk Gloria Jordan executed her Affidavit attesting to her diligent efforts made to locate Ms. Favre, through consultation of phone directories, land records, tax rolls and other means⁵. (R. Vol. 7 at 00951).

With no redemption made of the Property, Chancery Clerk's Conveyance was

(R. Vol. 4 at 00541).

⁵ As the Rule 30(b)(6) designee of Defendant Hancock County, Mississippi Chancery Clerk Timothy A. Kellar testified, with regard to the degree of diligence exercised in seeking alternate post office and street addresses for property owners, that

we actually will go well beyond what the law requires us to do. If we send the certified mail to the property owner and it comes back undelivered, our next step is to go to the – we'll go to the phone books, we'll go to Google search, we'll go to those means to try to find the latest, greatest address on these folks. If we can find anything that matches that person, whether it's the middle initial with that name, whatever it may be, we'll send a certified mailing to them. A lot of times it comes back not the right person, but we've tried that. We actually will then go to the former owners of the property, whoever sold it to them, making them aware because so many times there's some kind of owner finance that's out there that may not be recorded with us. So we'll go to former owners in these cases notifying them that the property is getting ready to be lost for taxes. We go to the mortgage companies. So we go as far as we can go with it before we finally give up. So we're at least three or four steps into certified mailing before we actually give up that they're not going to redeem it or we don't have any other source to go after to get the certified mailing to them.

delivered to Wachovia, as Custodian for Sass Muni V, on January 24, 2008, and filed in the land records of the aforesaid office in Book 2008 at Page 2451. (R. Vol. 7 at 00950). Rebuild America acquired title to the Property from Wachovia, as Custodian for Sass Muni V, by virtue of Quitclaim Deed and Assignment dated February 1, 2008 and filed in the land records of the Chancery Clerk of Hancock County on February 6, 2008 in Book 2008 at Page 3480. (R. Vol. 1 at 00010).

Subsequent to the filing of the lower court action to quiet and confirm tax title by Rebuild America, Scott Favre and Cindy Favre filed their Complaint against Countrywide in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Mississippi, Southern Division (hereinafter "the Federal Action"). (R. Vol. 4 at 00477, Vol. 7 at 01008). Rebuild America was neither a party to this federal action nor privy to the pleadings filed therein, discovery conducted between the parties and settlement attained, pursuant to which Scott Favre and Cindy Favre conveyed their title and interest unto Countrywide by Quitclaim Deed dated May 29, 2009, and filed in the land records of the Chancery Clerk of Hancock County in Book 2009 at Page 6900. (R. Vol. 3 at 00347, Vol. 7 at 01008).

Though Rebuild America was not afforded the opportunity to be present and conduct cross-examination either of Scott Favre or Cindy Favre, the deposition testimony of each witness was proffered as evidence by Countrywide and The Bank of New York in the lower court case. Specifically, Countrywide and The Bank of New York relied upon the testimony of Cindy Favre to establish her residency within Hancock County, Mississippi and her alleged failure to receive written Notice of Forfeiture prior to expiration of the redemption period preceding the Chancery Clerk's Conveyance to Wolf Run, LLC. (R. Vol. 4 at 00478). Of additional importance, however, was the testimony of Cindy Favre indicating

ί

.

-9-

an abandonment of the Property as early as August 15, 2005, and actual knowledge of the 2003 tax sale and resulting Chancery Clerk's Conveyance to Wolf Run, LLC in December, 2006, prior to expiration of the redemption period preceding the Chancery Clerk's Conveyance to Wachovia, as Custodian for Sass Muni V. (R. Vol. 5 at 00718, 00735 - 00736, 00743).

ł

.

÷

i

i

ł

<u>SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT</u>

By virtue of deposition testimony relied upon, in part, by Countrywide and The Bank of New York, genuine issues of material fact were present in the lower court action, which should have precluded summary judgment. Based upon this testimony, it appears that Cindy S. Favre abandoned the Property, intentionally seeking not to regain title, ownership or possession of the same. Based upon this testimony, it also appears that Cindy S. Favre may have had actual notice of the first Chancery Clerk's Conveyance, yet did nothing. These issues were relevant, and Rebuild America should have been given the opportunity to conduct its examination of Cindy S. Favre at a trial upon the merits.

Summary Judgment was granted by the lower court based upon alleged insufficiencies in that notice provided to Cindy S. Favre; however, this argument was not advanced by Ms. Favre, but by Countrywide and The Bank of New York. Neither Countrywide nor The Bank of New York were "owners" of the Property as defined by statute, yet each was permitted to maintain an argument rightfully held by Ms. Favre. Given that both Countrywide and The Bank of New York received notice of forfeiture as required by and in compliance with Mississippi statute, Rebuild America contends that these entities should not have been able to successfully argue an alleged absence of notice provided to Cindy S. Favre.

Despite certain cases to the contrary, Rebuild America submits that § 27-43-3, Miss. Code Ann., does not require that two (2) affidavits be filed, as a matter of course, by the Chancery Clerk.

-11-

Alternatively, remand of this case is necessary so that the lower court may determine the appropriate redemption amount owed to Rebuild America, to which it is entitled pursuant to §§ 27-45-3 and 27-45-27, Miss. Code Ann.

• --

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. <u>Standard of Review</u>.

The granting of a motion for summary judgment is a matter of law; therefore, an appellate court employs a de novo standard of review. *Mantachie Natural Gas Dist. v. Miss. Valley Gas Co.*, 594 So. 2d 1170, 1172 (Miss. 1992); *Price v. Purdue Pharma Co.*, 920 So. 2d 479, 483 (Miss. 2006)(citations omitted).

B. <u>Genuine Issues of Material Fact Precluded the Lower Court's Granting of Summary</u> <u>Judgment in Favor of Countrywide and The Bank of New York</u>.

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