#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI No. 2010-CA-01597

REBUILD AMERICA, INC.

**APPELLANT** 

v.

COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS, INC. and THE BANK OF NEW YORK

**APPELLEES** 

## BRIEF OF APPELLEES, COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS, INC. AND THE BANK OF NEW YORK

## ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF HANCOCK COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

#### ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

G. Dewey Hembree, III (MSB N John T. Rouse (MSB No MCGLINCHEY STAFFORD, PLLC Suite 1100, City Centre South 200 South Lamar Street (39201) Post Office Drawer 22949 Jackson, MS 39225-2949 Telephone: (601) 960-8400

Telephone: (601) 960-8400 Facsimile: (601) 960-8431

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In seeking reversal of the lower court, Rebuild America argues that the owner of the Subject Parcel, Cindy Favre, abandoned the property prior to the filing of this litigation. The pages of the Record cited in Rebuild America's brief do not support this contention. The record indicates that Cindy Favre no longer sought to keep the property on April 10, 2009, the date of her deposition. Her pleadings in this case assert her intent prior to that time was to retain the property. Rebuild America further argues that its inability to depose the former property owners justifies reversal of the case. This suit was filed by Rebuild America on April 17, 2008 and Cindy Favre was named a defendant. No deposition was ever noticed by Rebuild America of Cindy Favre. Cindy Favre was dismissed from this case by an Agreed Order dated March 29, 2010. No request was made by Rebuild America to depose Cindy Favre after the filing of the Motion for Summary Judgment on July 6, 2010. Rebuild America had ample opportunity to depose the property owners over at least a two year period.

Rebuild America argues that Countrywide and the Bank of New York do not have standing to contest the two tax sales. Both entities were named defendants by Rebuild America in its suit and both had an interest in the Subject Parcel as lien holders. After the litigation began, Countrywide became a successor owner of the property by virtue of a deed from Cindy Favre. Once Countywide obtained title to the property, it properly filed a counter-claim and motion for summary judgment to clear title to its property.

There is ample legal authority in Mississippi to illustrate that both prior tax sales involved in this case are void due to the actions or inactions of the Hancock County Chancery Clerk. The law requires strict construction of the statutes governing the tax sale process and the clerk failed to follow the procedures necessary to divest the property owner of title.

Rebuild America seeks a remand of the case in order to calculate the amount it contends that it is due as tax purchaser. This request is not a proper subject of this appeal. A motion was pending to conclude the matter in the proceedings below and the lower Court did not review this issue.

#### ARGUMENT

I. THE LOWER COURT WAS CORRECT IN GRANTING THE MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT OF COUNTYWIDE AND THE BANK OF NEW YORK AS THERE ARE NO GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT CONCERNING THE VALIDITY OF THE TAX SALES AT ISSUE.

#### A. Standard of Review.

In the summary judgment context, the Court "examines all the evidentiary matters before it - admissions in pleadings, answers to interrogatories, depositions, affidavits, etc. The evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party against whom the motion has been made. If, in this view, there is no genuine issue of material fact, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law, summary judgment should forthwith be entered in his or her favor." Lawrence v. Lawrence, 956 So. 2d 251, 255-56 (¶11) (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (citing McMillan v. Rodriguez, 823 So. 2d 1173, 1176-77 (¶9) (Miss. 2002)).

In reviewing the facts determined by the lower court in appeals concerning tax sales, the Mississippi Court of Appeals stated:

This Court maintains a limited review of a chancellor's findings of fact. We will not reverse the factual findings of the chancellor when supported by substantial evidence unless the Court can say that the findings are manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or amount to an abuse of discretion. In matters that are questions of law, this Court employs a de novo standard of review and will only reverse for an erroneous interpretation or application of the law.

Rebuild America, Inc. v. Milner, 7 So. 3d 972, 974 ( $\P$  6)(Miss. Ct. App. 2009) (citing Morgan v. West, 812 So. 2d 987, 990 ( $\P$  7) (Miss. 2002)).

The Mississippi Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals have both held that the statutory requirements of section 27-43-3 must be strictly construed in favor of landowners. *See Moore v. Marathon Asset Management, LLC*, 973 So. 2d 1017, 1020-21 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) (citing *Brown v. Riley*, 580 So. 2d 1234, 1237 (Miss. 1991); *Norwood v. Moore*, 932 So. 2d 63, 66 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006); *Lawrence v. Rankin*, 870 So. 2d 673, 676 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004); and

Roach v. Goebel, 856 So. 2d 711, 716 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003). "Any deviation from the statutorily mandated procedure renders the sale void." *Moore*, 973 So. 2d at 1021 (quoting Roach, 856 So. 2d at 716 (citing Hart v. Cartoe, 390 So. 2d 1001, 1003 (Miss. 1980)).

# B. The Genuine Issues of Material Fact argued by Rebuild America in Seeking Reversal of the Case do not Relate to the Facts Relied Upon by the Lower Court in Declaring the Tax Sales Void.

Rebuild America argues that Cindy S. Favre "only answered" the Complaint and never sought to set aside the tax sale by counter-claim or join in Countrywide and Bank of New York's summary judgment arguments. Appellant's Brief at p. 13. This argument is puzzling. Mississippi case law states "An owner of land sold for taxes, which sale is void, may, if he so desires, redeem it from the sale, bring an action to cancel the sale, or await action by the purchaser at the sale or his vendees and then invoke the invalidity of the sale in bar of any title there-from." Lee v. Smith 189 Miss. 636, 198 So. 296, 298 (Miss. 1940). The Record reveals that the Favres contested the allegations of Rebuild until they reached a settlement and were dismissed from the case. Prior to the suit, Scott Favre made repairs to the house after Hurricane Katrina (R. 735). Ms. Favre testified that she did not know about the tax sale issues until she was served with Rebuild America's lawsuit. (R. 736). The record reflects that Scott and Cindy Favre timely filed their Answer and Affirmative Defenses on June 27, 2008, denying the allegations of Rebuild America's Complaint and affirmatively pleading that the notice and affidavits were insufficient and the tax sales and subsequent deeds were void and should be set aside and requesting that title should be restored to Cindy S. Favre. (R. 28-32).

It is un-contested that the Favres last payment was made on August 15, 2005, but it is also uncontested that Hurricane Katrina destroyed the property on August 29, 2005. The record does not reflect that the Favres abandoned the property during the redemption periods for the two tax sales. As with many properties on the Gulf Coast during this time period, the Subject

Property was not habitable. Many people moved inland during this time and this relocation by the Favres does not prove abandonment. The Favres participated via counsel in the proceedings before the lower Court. One of their attorneys, Michael Moore, appeared at the hearing on Rebuild America's Motion for Summary Judgment. (See R. Volume 8 at p. 17). On July 6, 2010, when Countrywide and the Bank of New York filed the Motion for Summary Judgment (R. 490-499) and supporting Memorandum (R. 475-488), Scott and Cindy Favre were no longer defendants in the case by virtue of the transfer of their interest in the Subject Property on May 29, 2009, by Quitclaim Deed to Countrywide (R. 774-776). The Agreed Order of Dismissal of Mr. and Mrs. Favre (executed by Rebuild America) was entered on March 31, 2010. (R. 376-378).

Rebuild America also takes issue with the use of the depositions of Scott and Cindy Favre taken in the collateral federal court action because Rebuild America was unable to participate in those depositions. Appellant's Brief at p. 18. Rebuild America does not argue any procedural defect regarding the use of the depositions. Rather, it argues that it could have conducted its own examination of Scott and Cindy Favre and material facts could have arisen which should have precluded summary judgment. *Id.* It restates the arguments above that Cindy Favre may have abandoned the Subject Property and that she may have had actual knowledge of the first Chancery Clerk's Conveyance of the Subject Parcel. *Id.* Again, the Record does not support these assertions.

This suit was filed by Rebuild America on April 17, 2008 and Cindy Favre and her husband were named as defendants. No depositions were ever noticed by Rebuild America of Mr. and Mrs. Favre. The Favres were dismissed from this case by an Agreed Order on March 29, 2010. No request was made by Rebuild America to depose Mr. or Mrs. Favre after

Countrywide et al filed the Motion for Summary Judgment on July 6, 2010. Rebuild America had ample opportunity to depose the property owners over at least a two year period.

The basis of the Chancellor's ruling below centered upon the procedural deficiencies associated with the conduct of the Hancock County Chancery Clerk in connection with the two tax sales. The "material facts" that Rebuild America wishes to explore on remand will have no effect on the facts determined by the Chancellor below. Specifically, the Court determined that "As for the 2003 sale, there is one affidavit of the clerk concluding that the notice of the right of redemption was undeliverable. There is no second affidavit of a second search as required. The same is true for the 2004 sale." (R. 1009). The Court further found that "[t]here is no dispute that there is no return of any personal service on Cindy Favre for either the 2003 delinquency sale or the 2004 delinquency sale." (R. 1007-1009). The Summary Judgment cited the evidence that the Favres were residents of Hancock County, during the statutory redemption periods for both of the tax sales. (R. 1006-1008). These facts are undisputed and support the Court's decision to declare the two tax sales void.

### II. COUNTRYWIDE AND THE BANK OF NEW YORK HAVE STANDING TO CONTEST THE TAX SALES.

Rebuild America notes that there is a distinction between the tax sale redemption notices provided to property owners under Mississippi Code Sections 27-43-1 and 27-43-3 and the tax sale redemption notices provided to lien holders under Mississippi Code Section 27-43-5. *See* Appellant's Brief at pp. 18-20. Specifically, Rebuild America argues that "an owner who was not provided the requisite notice may successfully set aside a Chancery Clerk's Conveyance, and be restored title and ownership of a property, a lienor who was not provided the requisite notice, retains only its lien upon the property." Appellant's Brief at p. 19 (citing Miss. Code Ann. §27-43-11 and *SKL Investments, Inc. v. American General Finance, Inc.* 22 So. 3d 1247, 1250-51

(¶11) (Miss. Ct. App. 2009). Rebuild America contends that "it was error on the part of the lower court to grant Countrywide and The Bank of New York 'standing' to assert those arguments held by Cindy S. Favre, regarding an alleged lack of notice provided to her by the Chancery Clerk." Appellant's Brief at p. 20.

First and foremost, as stated by the Chancellor in his Summary Judgment, "[t]here is no dispute that there is no return of any personal service on Cindy Favre for either the 2003 delinquency sale or the 2004 delinquency sale." (R. 1008). There is no issue of fact Cindy Favre was not personally served with notice of either of the subject tax sales. Secondly, the Chancellor held in his Summary Judgment that the standing issue raised by Rebuild America is addressed by *Milner* and *Moore*. (R. 1009).

In *Milner*, Rebuild America obtained a quitclaim deed from the property owners for their interest in the property at issue one day after the complaint was filed and argued that "it is necessary, in order to have standing to sue to remove a tax deed as a cloud on title, that the plaintiff prove title in himself, or such interest as will warrant the action." 7 So. 3d 972, 975 (¶ 11) (citing *Osborn v. Harrison*, 447 So. 2d 122, 123 (Miss. 1984)). This Court stated that "the issue of standing is determined at the commencement of the lawsuit." *Id.* at (¶12) (quoting *Delta Health Group, Inc. v. Estate of Pope*, 995 So. 2d 123, 126(¶ 13) (Miss. 2008)). With that proposition, this Court held

Even if, as Rebuild America argues, the quitclaim deed relinquished the Milners' interest in the property, the deed was not signed by the Milners until after the filing of the complaint. The lawsuit had already been commenced; therefore, we need not address the effect, if any, that the quitclaim deed had on the Milners' standing in this matter. Accordingly, this issue has no merit.

Id. at ( $\P$  12).

Rebuild America named both Countrywide and Bank of New York as defendants in this case. Both entities held an interest in the subject property. Still, the instant matter is factually similar

to Milner because Cindy Fayre, as the owner of the Subject Property, had a right to contest the tax sale on the basis that she did not receive notice of the expiration of the redemption period. When Rebuild America filed its Complaint on April 17, 2008, Cindy Favre exercised her right to contest the sales in her Answer. (R. 28-32). Thereafter, Cindy Favre quitclaimed her interest and rights in the Subject Property to Countrywide on May 29, 2009. (R. 774-776). Countrywide took that interest in the Subject Property and sought to amend it's Answer to add affirmative defenses (as an owner) regarding the improprieties in the tax sales and to add a counter-claim to set aside the sales and quite title in itself. (R. 350-375). Rebuild America agreed with the requested relief and on June 18, 2010, the Chancellor entered the Agreed Order granting Countrywide and Bank of New York's motion for leave to file their Amended Answer and Affirmative Defenses and Counterclaim and Cross-claims to Remove Clouds and Confirm Title. (R. 379-381). Countrywide and Bank of New York filed their Amended Answer, Counterclaim and Cross-claims on June 24, 2010. (R. 382-473). Finally, Countrywide and the Bank of New York filed their Motion for Summary Judgment which was granted by the Chancellor and spurred the instant appeal.

In *Moore*, the Court of Appeals stated that "Mississippi has very liberal standing requirements." *Moore*, 973 So. 2d 1017, 1021 (¶ 17) (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) (citing *Dunn v. Miss*. *State Dep't of Health*, 708 So. 2d 67, 70 (¶ 9) (Miss. 1998)). "In Mississippi, parties have standing to sue 'when they assert a colorable interest in the subject matter of the litigation or experience an adverse effect from the conduct of the defendant, or as otherwise provided by law." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Quitman County*, 807 So. 2d 401, 405 (¶ 11) (Miss. 2001)). There, Moore was not the property owner entitled to notice of the redemption period, but rather purchased the property at foreclosure prior to the expiration of the redemption period. *Id.* at (¶ 21). "As a purchaser at a foreclosure sale, Moore stepped into the shoes of the mortgagee . . .

[t]his gave Moore an interest in the property because, upon purchasing it at foreclosure, he took title to the property. Id. at (¶ 19). Moore (1) had a colorable interest in the property and (2) was adversely affected by the tax purchaser's claim to the property, which gave him standing to assert a claim. Id. at (¶ 20).

As stated above, *Moore* directly applies to the instant appeal by virtue of Cindy Favre's quitclaim deed to Countrywide. Additionally, Countrywide and the Bank of New York have standing on their own to contest the tax sales because as mortgagees: (1) they have a colorable interest in the Subject Property and (2) they experienced an adverse effect in that their mortgage loans to Cindy Favre were purportedly wiped out by the tax sales.

# III. MISSISSIPPI STATUTES REGARDING THE PROCEDURE FOR TAX SALES MUST BE STRICTLY CONSTRUED AND REQUIRE THE CHANCERY CLERK TO EXECUTE TWO AFFIDAVITS DOCUMENTING EFFORTS WHEN PROPERTY OWNERS CAN NOT BE LOCATED.

#### A. Two Affidavits are Required.

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